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CHAPTER FOUR 

BRICKYARDS, NURSERY, CAMPS, COTTAGES, YARRALUMLA HOUSE, NURSERY, FORESTRY SCHOOL, 

ABORETUM, CANBERRA INCINERATOR & SEWER VENT 

at 

YARRALUMLA PROPERTY, BRICKYARDS, WESTRIDGE, YARRALUMLA  

As early as 1910 King OõMalley, the Federal Minister for H ome Affairs laid out his plans for the establishment of 

a Brickworks in the area of the proposed Federal Capital City. i Early the following year brickmaking 

experiments were carried out on shipmen ts of shale taken from the Yass -Canberra district.  They pro ved 

satisfactory . iiThe site chosen for the brickworks was at Yarralumla , the property of Frederick Campbell.  It 

was part of his ram paddock.  

On 8 July 1912 Frederick Campbell wrote to the Director of Works giving permission for about 38 acres of his 

property to be used for brickmaking. The area was gazetted 27 July 1912  and construction of the brickyards 

was carried out shortly after by men housed in a camp somewhere near the railway station. iii The first camp 

for workmen at the brickyard s was laid out on 13 June 1913.   

The choice of the brickworkõs site marked this area, later known as Westridge, as one of the five major early 

Canberra settlements.  The area was originally known as the Brickwork s or Brickyards until 1917  when a post 

office was established i n the area and Walter  Burley Griffin renamed the area Westridge. 1   In 1927 when a 

number of Canberra suburbs were renamed, Westridge was changed to Yarralumla.   However the area 

continued to be known as Westridge to the locals well into the 1950s when rap id expansion of the suburb 

began. 

Problems relating to the choice of the site of Canberraõs brickworks and other early buildings that were part of 

the Depart mental Plan and not that of Griffinõs are noted in an article in The Sydney Morning Herald 19 May 

1916 with a heading WASTE AT CANBERRA. It reports an outburst in the Federal Parliament by the Minister for 

the Post Master Generalõs Department in which he stated:...The sewerage system is dangerous, the water 

scheme all wrong, the roads poor, the power -house is in the wrong place, and the brickworks are in the 

residential area... and continued,  That there were no structures other than temporary buildings of 

weatherboard and galvanised iron ...a massively built railway had been erected through one of the la ke sites 

...the brickworks were in the midst of what is one of the fashionable residential areas and were three miles 

from the railway line...  

In 1914 an area nearby to the brickworks was chosen as the site for the permanent nursery and in 1927 the 

Forestry School was established in the area of Banks Street.  

Not far from the settlement established for the men working at the Brickworks, Nursery and students and staff 

of the Forestry School is Yarralumla House, former home of Frederick Campbell.  This dwelli ng was used to 

house officials, politicians and visitors of importance until 1927 when the renovated building was used to 

accommodate the Duke and Duchess of York.iv  The house has since become the home of the Governor General 

of Australia.  

Westridge Settlement, like that of Acton, contained a mixture of temporary and permanent dwellings.  It was 

also, like Acton, a settlement with a mixture of classes.  Westridge was also the area where the Night Soil was 

emptied. The dumping area was in the vicinity of the  overpass over Adelaide Avenue where Kent Street Deakin 

joins Novar St [original name ð Mountain Way]. This area that covered around ten acres was surrounded by a 

circle of hedges. 

ROYAL MILITARY COLLEGE TRAINING AREA 

In the teen years of the last century Westridge was still sufficiently distanced from the central area of 

Canberra to be a favoured training site for the cadets of the Royal Military College.  Mrs Ethel Quigg, nee 

                                                           
1 The new name was to avoid confusion with the property of Yarralumla and is probably named Westridge 

because it was west of Stirling Ridge.  On the early maps it is also marked as Westlake.  
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Sharp whose parents lived in one of the cottages in the grounds of Yarralumla Ho use recalled these camps and 

of finds of many a spoon and fork following the closure of camps which then went into family use.  

 

Above: Frank Boland photograph showing one of the annual RMC Camps at Yarralumla.  Yarralumla house is in 

the background right.   NLA pic-an23764166-v 

The Yarralumla woolshed features in a number of articles in the Queanbeyan Age.  As well as being used for 

the shearing of sheep, it was used at other times as a ball room for numerous charity events and to raise 

money for the Queanbeyan Hospital. One ball advertised in The Queanbeyan Age 22 November 1907 advertised 

a Grand Ball in aid of the Queanbeyan Hospital.  Tickets 5s each: Ladies free.   Another article in the same 

paper dated 9 May 1905 detailed a picnic day at the Woolshed fo r the pupils of Bulga Creek public school 

together with their parents.  This festive gathering and re -union of the many families residing on the environs 

of the Yarralumla Station is in its fourteenth year. It was organised in about the year 1892 by Mrs Fr ed 

Campbell, since which time the popular hostess of Yarralumla has not ceased to provide for  the children of 

the Bulga Creek Public School an annual picnic on that picturesque flat which is overlooked by the 

magnificent Yarralumla mansion. The picnic gro unds to which many of the elder scholars of the school, who 

were present in great force on Saturday have naturally have become very much attached, looked its 

grandest...Mrs Campbell had purchased no end of prizes and athletic events were organised in order  to decide 

who was to become the proud possessor of these trophies...At about 2 oõclock the company which consisted 

of at least fifty, were invited to the old woolshed, where a lengthy table, loaded with edibles of many 

descriptions, was arranged and lunch eon served...  

Scrolling through The Canberra Times into the post World War Two period there were numerous articles that 

indicated that the old woolshed continued to be used for public functions such as balls and camps.  The issue 

dated  13 April 1950 for ex ample documented the  event held in the old woolshed  headed:  Ranger Guides 

Entertain at Camp Concert. Representatives of Canberra youth and church organisations were guests at a 

concert and Ranger Camp at the Yarralumla Woolshed last night...   

WESTRIDGE ð THE SUBURB 

Although Westridge was officially recognised as a suburb in 1927, it continued to be treated in a similar 

manner to the temporary suburbs of Westlake, Causeway, Molonglo, Riverbourne, Russell Hill and Oaks Estate 

(formerly a suburb of Queanbeya n].   Numerous articles in NAA, Canberra Community News and local papers 

voice the concerns of the Westridge locals which included the neglect of the area ð an out of sight out of mind 

mentality of officialdom? High on the list of concerns was the ongoing need for basic facilities such as street 

lighting, kerbing and guttering, a bus service and accommodation for the men who worked in the brickyards 

and nursery. 

 In 1935, for example, the locals complained to the authorities that they wanted equality with o ther residents 

of the territory.  One result was that the remaining blocks in the sections of 58, 63 and 64 were put up for 

private lease.  This sale in effect, recognised Westridge as a suburb of Canberra, but did little to provide the 

required services and improvements.  

Westridge accommodation - temporary and permanent.  

 1913 ð c 1921 Camps - Single menõs tents, and married menõs humpies [included as well as 

brickyard camps at least one Sewer Camp ð reference made to sewer men camping in Yarralumla 

woolshed] 

 1921-1922 -   small brick cottages (Section 64); ex -Molonglo cottages for married men and single 

men; No 2 Sewer Camp ð tents.  

 1927- new brickyardsõ single menõs & married (timber) camps ; weatherboard cottages. 

 Forestry School students - three shells brick cottages in Solander Place used as Mess, Recreation 

Room and Ablution blocks for forestry school students. The forestry students were provided with 
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lined cubicles erected behind the cottages; timber barracks known as Waldorf for forestry school 

students; Westridge House constructed for head of forestry school.   

 
Above; Details from two FCC plans for the cottages in Solander Place erected for Mess, Ablution and 

Recreation blocks for the Forestry School students.  Below: Two of the cottages August 20 10 

  
 

Below the cubicles and bottom left one of the cottages in Solander Place and right ð Westridge House, home of 

the Lane Poole family.  

  

 
Above right and below ð Westridge House, August 2010 [photographs Patricia Frei]  

 

BACKGROUND ð FEDERAL PERIOD 

In 1913 Yarralumla property was resumed  by the Commonwealth, Frederick Campbellõs former home ð known 

as Yarralumla House ð remained empty of permanent occupants with the exception of caretake rs and Miss 

Isabella Southwell, the housekeeper.  She looked after visiting dignitaries including  Walter Burley Griffin and  
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politicians until alternative accommodation was made available at the Hotel Canberra.  It opened in December 

1924.  The house was also used by the Federal Cabinet for the first Cabinet meeting he ld in Canberra on 30 

January 1924.v 

During 1926 Yarralumla House was renovated and decorated by Mrs Ruth Lane Poole in readiness for the arrival 

of the Royal visitors and Prime Minister in May 1927.   She also had a hand in the furnishing of the Prime 

Ministerõs Lodge made ready for the Prime Minister in May 1927. Both dwellings were intended to be 

temporary.  Instead Yarralumla House remained as a residence for the  Governor General and the Prime 

Ministerõs Lodge is still in use. The original site for the Governor Generalõs Residence is in the area of Stirling 

Ridge, Section 22, Stirling Park, Yarralumla .  This area has now been set aside as one of two possible sites for 

a new lodge ð the other is Attunga Point.  2  At the time this area was chosen there were  no provisions put in 

place to save heritage areas. [see footnote and chapter on Westlake]  

As early as 1928 concerns about the costs of renovating Yarralumla House and the proposal to use it as a 

permanent home for the Governor General were raised in the l ocal papers.  The Canberra Times 22 June 1928 

in an article HOUSING OF PUBLIC SERVANTS in part states: GOVERNMENT HOUSE.  When the Commission 

[Federal Capital Commission] took up duty its instructions were that Canberra was to be ready for occupation 

on th e secretariat basis in approximately two years.  The permanent Canberra Government House must be a 

monumental structure worthy of its purpose, and this could not possibly produced in that time.  It had been 

the intention of the previous administration to r emodel Yarralumla for the temporary purpose of a 

Government House, and when the Commission was faced with the problem it agreed with the general scheme 

and decided further that it would endeavour so to remodel it that the establishment could be used 

subsequently as a nucleus for a large boarding school.  

Arrangements were made with the Department of Works and Railways to consult with the then Governor 

Generalõs staff and evolve a scheme.  Sketch plans were produced by the Department after consultation with 

Lord Foresterõs staff, and a preliminary estimate for a building prepared from which the Commission felt 

convinced that the necessary alterations and additions could be made at a cost of approximately £20,000.  

The work was immediately placed in hand and was  well underway when the present Governor -General 

arrived, and it was thought expedient to consult Lord Stonehavenõs staff and review the whole proposition. 

This consultation indicated clearly that the accommodation provided in the original scheme was quite  

inadequate; and considerable extensions to the original proposal were then added one by one as the 

requirements could be ascertained.  

By the time it had become evident that all idea of making this place a temporary Government House must go 

by the board, a nd the reconstruction and alterations were therefore made suitable for the Governor 

Generalõs establishment for an indefinite period. 

The work involved in the alterations to and reconditioning of the old re -establishment was very much more 

than was ever contemplated.  As soon as the walls were stripped, troubles developed in all directions but the 

work had to be finished once it was started.  

Government House, Canberra, as it appears on our books, and as it has been referred to, is really a small 

settlement of its own for which complete services had to be provided ð roads, pathways, sewerage, water 

supply and stormwater drainage. Much work had to be done in the demolition of outbuildings, and in the 

                                                           
2 The area of Stirling Park ð in particular the area now k nown as Stirling Ridge ð Block 22 Stirling Park 

Yarralumla ðnow set aside for possible construction of a new prime ministerõs lodge and originally marked as 

the area for the permanent governor generalõs residence -  is a major site of the endangered wild f lower, 

button wrinklewort and the legless lizard.  It is also an area of grassy woodland with trees that date well 

before European occupation.  It is an area that has several heritage listings - sewer vent, wildflower as well as 

being a significant area of land that has the arrival of Europeans.  The area of the park is a huge 

archaeological site that bears the marks of human occupation that includes Ngunawal ð early European and 

Construction period when it was known as Westlake and home to 700 men and famil ies working on the 

construction of the provisional parliament house etc.  
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formation of grounds consistent with its purpose. The cost o f remodelling of two cottages and the 

construction of two new ones  had been included in the general cost, although they are really a portion of 

Canberra housing requirements and not part of Government House itself...  

The article continues with reference to  questions being asked in Parliament about the costs of renovation and 

construction etc of the conversion of Yarralumla House into a house suitable for the Governor General of 

Australia.  

 

Above left:  Detail 1927 map of Westlake area and right 1978 map showing two of the  proposed sites for Prime 

Ministerõs Lodge. Added to this map are the areas of Ngunawal mourning tree, Briar Farm, Howiesõ Settlement 

& Tradesmenõs Camp. Not shown in the 1978 map is the third proposed site for a new Prime Ministerõs Lodge ð 

Collins Park. 

In the area known as Westridge one tenant farm remained.  In 1913 the former Yarralumla dairy was leased to 

Robert Corkhill who had to move from his tenant farm  on land where the Provisional Parliament House was 

later built.   The two sto rey dwelling that came with the lease was renamed ð Riverview.  There were a 

number of small farm dwellings that remained in the area.  

 

1927 - OPENING OF FEDERAL PARLIAMENT, ARRIVAL OF THE PUBLIC SERVANTS 

1927 was the year when the city was made ready to m ove into its Federal role. This was the year that a 

number of permanent suburbs were renamed and amongst them was Westridge that was formerly renamed, 

Yarralumla.   

The following map is dated 1949 and shows the nucleus of the suburb that changed little in size from 1927.  On 

the right is a map of the area 2003.  

 

Above left: Arrows ð top left Government House (former Yarralumla House); Top right ð nursery; Next down ð 

Brickyards surrounded by plantation and bottom ð Uriarra Road ð the arrow points to t he section that is still in 
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situ along with the old entrance road into Yarralumla House.  The small line marked from the brickworks 

between the two arrows is the cutting where the rail line from the brickworks still marks the landscape. The 

circle that is off the right is roughly the area of the nightsoil deposit.  The road leading into Westridge is Novar 

Street (former Mountain Way) and the road off to the left is Adelaide Avenue.   

 
NAA A3560 369 Rail line from brickyards Hotel Canberra site c1924 

Jean Oldfield, nee Boyd, whose husband Claude, like his fther, Sid, was a Manager of the Brickworks, recalled 

that a section of the old road to the Cotter is under the Yarralumla Road that runs parallel to Adelaide 

Avenue.  On the cottage side of this road wa s the rail line from the brickworks.  It con tinued down to the 

area of State Circle where it turned to the left before continuing on the Hotel Kurrajong and Parliament 

House.   The State Circle cutting was made for the rail line.  Jeanõs father-in-law, Sid Oldfield lived in three 

of the managerõs cottages in the brickyards ð the first was in the area required for shale and is now part of 

the pit; the second was near the chimney in Lane Pool Cres and the third on the opposite side of the road.  

For a time, Sid Oldfield also lived in Scrivenerõs Plan Room on Camp Hill [now Capital Hill]. 

  

A notice in Queanbeyan Canberra Advocate  5 February 1925 informs us that the bricks conveyed on the train 

line to building sites had then to be moved by trucks or drays closer to required sites: Tenders close on 

Saturday next 10am for transfer and stacking of 200,000 bricks from the tramway to the site of the 

Secretariat building Canberra.  
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Rail line cutting from Brickyards ð photograph Patricia Frei August 2010 

 
 

THE BRICKYARDS & THE CAMPS 

 
Above: Harry Connellõs photograph of the Brickyards NLA pic-vn3299806 -v 
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Above left Eric Milton Nicholls collection ð nla pic -vn3603884-s-18-v  Construction of the Brickworks. Above 

right - construction of the brickworks in 19 13 ð courtesy Robyn Donnelly whose father and grandfather ð 

Frederick Walter Taylor and George Taylor worked on the construction of building.  

 

 

 

Below August 2010 photograph showing the brickyards in the distance.  The site of the first kilns on right be low 

the trees.  The foreground is the site of the 1927 single menõs camp.  To the left of the brickyards is the site 

of the 1927 married quarters camp that was converted in the 1940s into a new camp  for single men.  


